


MISSIONVISION

To be a dynamic regulator  
of the Information

and Communications Technology (ICT) 
sector, transforming Namibia and its 
peoples into an active knowledge-

based society to derive the full socio-
economic benefits of ICTs.

To purposefully regulate electronic 
communications services, networks 

and postal services and the spectrum, 
so that all Namibians derive the 
full socio-economic benefits of 

Information and Communications 
Technologies (ICTs).



VALUES

To have integrity

To be transparent

To be innovative

To be knowledgeable

Teamwork
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Driving ICT 
forward
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

In 2012, the World Bank and the African Development Bank 
teamed up to produce a report on the use of information and 
communication technologies (ICTs) in key sectors of Africa’s 
economy. This Report was themed “Transformation-ready”. 

According to the Report, Africa’s ICTs contribute a staggering 
7% to the continent’s gross domestic product. This is the high-
est contribution that the sector makes throughout the world. 
The Report calls it Africa’s “appetite for change”. Africa is in-
deed pushing forward with innovation and eagerness.

What the Report terms Africa’s economic “long boom” is at-
tributed to “the take-up of ICTs and, in particular, the spectac-
ular growth in mobile communications”. As a result, Africa’s 
economy is expected to grow faster than any other continent. 
The Report also states “ICT offers the potential to transform so-
ciety, improve our mutual understanding, and eliminate power 
differentials”.

Most African countries have a Vision 2030 mapping their path 
to economic growth, income equality and employment cre-
ation. ICT is integral to the success of each of these long-term 
developmental plans. In Kenya, for example, the government 
has underscored universal access to ICTs as a major objective 
of their Vision 2030. 

Namibia’s Vision 2030 aims to propel the country towards “a 
prosperous and industrialised Namibia developed by her hu-
man resources, enjoying peace, harmony and political stabil-
ity”. Industrialisation depends on having adequate and mod-
ern infrastructure to support innovation leaps and universal 
access. A number of the sub-visions in Namibia’s Vision 2030 
refer to “knowledge” and “enabling environments”. 

¹Yonazi, Enock, Tim Kelly, Naomi Halewood & Colin Blackman (Eds). 2012. The transformational use of information and communication technologies: Main Report. 
Washington, DC/Tunisia: World Bank & African Development Bank. Also available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATION-
ANDTECHNOLOGIES/Resources/282822-1346223280837/MainReport.pdf; last accessed 10 October 2014.

At the Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia 
(CRAN), we believe that ICTs are social and economic en-
ablers of progress. ICTs offer access to information that em-
powers people to make better social and economic decisions, 
to transact, socialise and to express their freedom of speech 
amongst others.

 In order to ensure that each Namibian has access to the ben-
efits that ICT so readily offers, the Ministry of Information Com-
munications and Technology (MICT) has enacted Chapter 4 
of the Communications Act of 2009 which, deals with univer-
sal access and service. This concept was coined by the ITU 
denoting the provision of telecommunications services to all 
households within the country. CRAN has commenced with the 
drafting of the UAS regulation as well as UAS levies regula-
tion. CRAN will also be conducting a UAS gap analysis study 
to identify the underserved areas. Once the study has been 
completed, plans to roll out UAS will then be drafted and imple-
mented accordingly.

Namibia’s latest five-year National Development Plan (2013/17) 
aims to have “adequate ICT infrastructure in place to facilitate 
economic development and competitiveness through innova-
tion, research and development” by 2017. To ensure that this 
goal is realised, CRAN has conducted an infrastructure-shar-
ing study that investigates the current ICT structures in place, 
and proposes a strategy for achieving full coverage of the geo-
graphical landscape. CRAN has an important role to play in 
creating an enabling ICT environment and is tasked with creat-
ing a framework that encourages innovation and new technol-
ogies and, in so doing, empowers stakeholders. CRAN creates 
an environment where useful information is readily available to 
help entrepreneurs, farmers, health workers, teachers and en-
vironmentalists, miners, and other professions to make better 
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May 2013 educated, informed and engaged consumers on the 
organisation’s mandate, the complaints process, and the pro-
cess of regulation. Indeed, the vibrant tone of the campaign 
contributed to people shirking in the traditional image of the 
regulator as being a remote, controlling body. At CRAN, we 
believe consumers who are well-informed and who participate 
fully in the industry are vital to its success.

Our relationship with ICTs is becoming personal. Operators and 
regulators in the sector need to cultivate customer loyalty, pro-
tect relationships, earn trust in handling privacy concerns, and 
acknowledge the highly personal nature of the mobile phone 
as a communications portal and token of identity. Social media, 
accessed through multiple devices, are placing the informed 
and empowered consumer at the centre of a demand-driven 
market. A richer understanding of what people do with tech-
nology in their lives is important, particularly with regards to 
the generation of digital natives, i.e. those born with devices at 
their fingertips.,

Consumers International has even recognised the importance 
of awareness in this sector by theming the 2014 World Con-
sumer Rights Day on 15 March as “Fix our Phone Rights”. This 
consumer advocacy group implemented a set of “consumer 
responsibilities” in the 1980s that they say should “comple-
ment” the consumer’s ICT rights. Thus, the consumer has to 
be aware of both sides of the coin in order to take ownership of 
the industry and make full use of it.

Looking ahead, CRAN will continue to support all licensed tele-
com providers and broadcasters in the industry and educate all 
Namibians on their rights and responsibilities as consumers.

I would like to thank my fellow Board members and the CRAN 
management and staff for their passion and commitment to this 
industry. I would also like to thank the Ministry of Information 
and Communication Technology for affording CRAN the oppor-
tunity to be a dynamic regulator.
 

decisions in their daily activities. Hence, the focus is on sev-
eral supporting pillars, which include adequate ICT infrastruc-
ture, digital literacy, and nurturing an ICT-skilled workforce that 
would leverage ICTs to achieve sustainability and replicability. 
Taking such a holistic view on a sector is a significant challenge 
for any regulator, regardless of how developed a country may 
be.

Universal access to information and services will afford the 
Namibian people the opportunity to develop into a knowl-
edge-based society. The Main Report states “ICT provides 
fast access to information, which is a prerequisite for literacy 
and knowledge creation”. CRAN has made concerted efforts 
to keep abreast of new technological developments in order to 
foster an open market and fair competition in a dynamic and 
converging sector.

CRAN has a vision of a Namibia that thrives on and benefits 
from the opportunities, efficiency and innovation that ICTs of-
fer. The Board acknowledges not only the economic impact 
that ICTs drive, but also the social upliftment that is possible 
through the widespread use of and access to ICTs.

The ICT sector defies categorisation because it cuts across 
every other realm of the economy, adding exponential value. 
Some key sectors that benefit particularly from ICT support 
are agriculture, the environment, fisheries, tourism, education, 
health, mining, financial services and government. Each sector 
is given the ability to grow and evolve more quickly, meeting 
people’s needs and raising the standard of living of all Namib-
ians. The potential of e-government and e-health services is 
already being explored in Namibia to increase efficiency and 
reduce costs.

At the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) Telecom 
World Conference that took place in Bangkok in November 
2013, it was resolved that “human emotions are at the heart of 
the telecommunications industry“. As the regulator, this trans-
lates into protecting consumers, advocating that they are treat-
ed fairly, and regulating the ICT industry to ensure it continues 
to flourish.

The consumer awareness campaign that CRAN launched in 

CRAN has an important role 
to play in creating an enabling 
ICT environment and is tasked 
with creating a framework that 
encourages innovation and new 
technologies...

……………………………………
 Lazarus Jacobs: Chairperson
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S  STATEMENT

In CRAN’s two years of operation, careful consideration 
was given to our vision, mission and values statement. 
The primary focus was to formulate an effective regulatory 
framework for the ICT sector.

In our third year of operation, the focus was on taking those 
statements of identity and introducing ourselves and our man-
date to the general populace as customers of ICT services. The 
Communications and External Relations Department took cen-
tre stage in launching an exciting, nationwide consumer aware-
ness campaign to outline CRAN’s mandate and functions. The 
campaign’s principal focus was to educate stakeholders about 
our mandate, the Communications Act, 2009 (No. 8 of 2009), 
and the new complaints procedure. CRAN is guided by the ob-
jectives of this Act, which mandates us to, among other things, 
ensure that  ICT services are of the required quality, affordable 
and publicly available, that competition is fair, and that private 
investment and local participation are encouraged.

Some outstanding achievements for CRAN include the suc-
cessful execution of our informative and interesting quarterly 
newsletter, CRANicles, as well as receiving an award for hav-
ing the best indoor exhibition stand at the Windhoek Agricultur-
al Show in October 2013. These platforms were used to inform 
various stakeholders about CRAN and the consumer’s basic 

right to complain. As custodians of the ICT sector, CRAN is 
required to keep all its players accountable and to ensure that 
all consumers of ICT services are given a voice. We therefore 
implemented a complaints procedure that offers consumers an 
opportunity to be heard and to receive redress on issues they 
raise. The Legal Advice Department took responsibility for im-
plementing this procedure to ensure all the requirements of the 
Act are met.

In the period under review, the number of complaints received 
increased from 11 to 37. We believe this rise speaks to Na-
mibian consumers becoming more aware of their rights, and 
developing trust and confidence in CRAN’s complaints resolu-
tion procedure. This is particularly important, given our role of 
building an ICT sector that values the consumer.

CRAN is responsible to the Namibian nation, ICT consumers, 
ICT service operators, the Ministry of Information and Com-
munication Technology, and the State-owned Enterprises Gov-
erning Council Secretariat for sound accountability practices 
in the use of funds, and for achieving CRAN’s strategic goals. 
To ensure transparency and integrity at all levels, we had the 
pleasure of establishing an Internal Audit Department. This De-
partment provides independent, objective assurance and con-
sulting services, designed to add value and improve the organ-

These laudable achievements 
are attributed to our hard-
working management and 
staff and their dedication to 
innovation. What gives CRAN 
the advantage over other, more 
established, regulators is that 
we are already a converged 
regulator for broadcasting, 
telecommunications and postal 
services, with a licence regime 
that is neutral in respect of 
service and technology.
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isation’s overall operations. It effectively serves as a watchdog, 
ensuring that CRAN adheres to all the policies and procedures 
internally and also to externally set standards and procedures.

Despite having been launched only on 23 July 2013, the In-
ternal Audit Department’s small team nonetheless made great 
strides during the reporting period by completing CRAN’s first 
organisation-wide risk assessment, and conducting a mapping 
and standardising exercise. In addition, CRAN is implementing 
a compliance process to meet the standards set by the Inter-
national Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) with regard to 
its business processes. These standards ensure efficiency and 
compliance with international best practices.

The Human Resources Department focused on harnessing the 
skills already present in the organisation, and nurturing poten-
tial in all our employees. The Department emphasises continu-
ous development, and encourages staff to deepen their knowl-
edge of ICT regulation at every opportunity. During the review 
period, 72.5% of permanent staff enhanced their professional 
development and expertise in areas that included ICT policy 
and regulation as well as spectrum management and licensing. 
At CRAN, we value knowledge and innovation. To this end, our 
Economics and Sector Research Department thrives on data 
collection and analysis. The knowledge gleaned in turn pro-
vides us with a clear view of the sector and areas that need at-
tention. For example, dominant players were identified and de-
clared during the period under review. Dominant players have 
a high impact on the sector and need to be monitored carefully 
to ensure fair play on all accounts and in all spheres. During 
the reporting year, the Department reviewed  tariffs and rates 

submitted by operators. Some were deemed anti-competitive 
and were rejected, while the others were approved.Technical 
specialists in the Operations Department also focused on con-
sumer protection during the financial year. Hence, in cooper-
ation with the Legal Advice Department, they drafted Quality 
of Service Regulations to guide operators in respect of what 
CRAN expects from them as regards transparency and integ-
rity towards the consumer, these regulations, are yet to come 
into force.

Another major achievement by the Operations Department 
was the completion of studies on the Numbering Plan which, 
once implemented, will boost competition and fairness.

To maintain the momentum of the previous financial year, 
CRAN continued transitioning licensees from its predessor Na-
mibian Communication Commission to CRAN. A total of four 
licensees were transitioned in the reporting year, while three 
still need to be finalised, namely Deukom, iBurst and Vox. Fur-
thermore Namibia is well on its way to being ready for ana-
logue television switch-off by 17 June 2015, as determined by 
the ITU.

As part of the foundation that has been laid, CRAN conduct-
ed a study on spectrum allocation and is working on allocat-
ing the 800 band for international mobile telecommunications 
services. The 700 and 800 bands for DTT will also be made 
available for such international services, as we envisage using 
these bands as leverage to roll out services into rural areas.
CRAN also launched a television white spaces trial to deter-
mine the feasibility of allowing spectrum-sharing between 

However, the great achievement of this period 
is definitely CRAN’s exceptional work on the 
digital terrestrial television (DTT) switch-over 
process and regulatory framework, which are 
currently being used as a benchmark for other 
Southern African Development Community 
(SADC) countries.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S  STATEMENT

broadcasters and telecommunications licensees, pending the 
outcome of the World Radio Conference to be held in Novem-
ber 2015.

These laudable achievements are attributed to our hard-work-
ing staff and their dedication to innovation. What gives CRAN 
the advantage over other, more established, regulators is that 
we are already a converged regulator for broadcasting, tele-
communications and postal services, with a licence regime that 
is neutral in respect of service and technology.

CRAN still has much ground to break as well as a weighty Stra-
tegic Plan to actualise in the next few years. Thus, to ensure 
we function efficiently and at maximum capacity, CRAN went 
through a process-mapping exercise during the reporting pe-
riod. This enabled us to evaluate our internal processes and 
established standards in order to ensure our alignment with 
ISO 9001 requirements and best practices.

Although we have achieved much over the past few years, 
there are still many challenges to be faced. Setting up ade-
quate infrastructure to allow for greater reach in terms of In-
ternet access and broadband capacity is one of these. In this 
regard, we look forward to developing a broadband policy that 
advocates an overarching digitisation.

Another challenge would be to strengthen, harmonise and in-
tegrate policy and regulatory frameworks in the African region, 
particularly when it comes to home-and-away roaming, open 
access to backbone infrastructure and undersea cables, and 
converged licensing regimes to provide quad-play services.

For all of the accomplishments we have achieved, I would like 
to thank our management and staff members for their passion 
and integrity. Above all, I also thank the Board and its Chairper-
son, Mr Lazarus Jacobs, for their selfless dedication to CRAN’s 
success.

Stanley Shanapinda: CEO
……………………………………

Our employees are our 
most important group of 
stakeholders. Although the 
organisation is still in its 
formative years, CRAN has 
recruited Namibians who are 
experts in their field . . .
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COMMUNICATIONS AND EXTERNAL RELATIONS

CONSUMER AWARENESS

Namibia’s media enjoyed a flurry of entertaining and in-
formative advertisements courtesy of CRAN’s dynamic 
consumer campaign, which ran from May 2013 to March 
2014. After an intriguing two-week teaser, CRAN proudly 
launched its first consumer awareness campaign on 18 
May 2013, which had four main objectives:
• To create an awareness of CRAN’s mandate and its pur-

pose
• To create an awareness about the complaints procedure
• To educate consumers about the Communications Act, 

and;
• To educate potential consumers about our licence appli-

cation procedures.

The Communications and External Relations Department 
made use of various marketing and public relations activities to 
entrench CRAN’s brand and image in the minds of all Namib-
ians. These strategies ranged from print, radio and television 
adverts; ‘activations’ known as Shoppa-Shows; and unconven-
tional outdoor marketing on clock towers, trolleys, parking pil-
lars, lamp posts, and car wash stations.

The success of this campaign was evidenced as follows:
• An increase in complaints received from consumers re-

garding the quality of service they receive from ICT licens-
ees

• Brand recognition and recall through an informal survey 
conducted at the Windhoek Agricultural Show in Septem-
ber 2013, and;

• A marked increase in social media participation by various 
consumers.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS

CRANicles
The Communications and External Relations Department is 
tasked with keeping stakeholders informed about CRAN’s ac-
tivities and other developments within the ICT sector. To por-
tray this information in an interesting and engaging manner, a 
quarterly electronic magazine entitled CRANicles was concep-
tualised and mailed to stakeholders. The first edition of CRANi-
cles was posted in July 2013.

Social media
Valuing innovation means that the Department consistently 
looks for new ways to inform, engage and educate consumers 
in respect to ICT-related matters. With the evolution of new 
communication platforms such as social media, the Depart-
ment made a concerted effort to create a social media page to 
effectively engage with consumers. CRAN used this platform to 
position itself as a reliable and prompt source of information in 
the local and global ICT arena.

Model United Nations
The Communications and External Relations Department val-
ued the opportunity to partner with the United Nations Infor-
mation Centre in Windhoek to host the Model United Nations 
Namibia High School Conference in July 2013. This oppor-
tunity offered CRAN a unique avenue to pursue its vision of 
transforming Namibia and its people into an active, knowl-
edge-based society.

The annual conference allows high-school learners to exer-
cise their debating skills, mimicking the United Nations format. 
CRAN chose to be a main sponsor of this event because the 

During the reporting year CRAN 
participated in the Windhoek 
Show for the first time, where 
it won a Gold Award for Best 
Indoor Exhibition Stand. 
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topic related to ICT, namely “How can ICTs be used to foster 
sustainable development in developing countries?”.

CRAN made its offices available for research laborato-
ries, while Chief Executive Officer Stanley Shanapinda – an 
award-winning debater himself – gave an encouraging speech 
at the opening event. The learners drafted noteworthy resolu-
tions, which included the following:
• Access to information and technology should be part of 

any individual’s basic human rights
• African countries should unite in their efforts to supply their 

nations with access to education through new technology, 
and

• ICT should be standardised throughout the world.

World Radio Day
For the second year running, World Radio Day on 13 February 
was commemorated in Namibia. This international celebration 
for the radio media is organised by the United Nations, with 
input from local broadcasters and other stakeholders, who also 
assist in executing activities for the occasion. 

In the reporting year, the theme related to gender issues on ra-
dio, the increasing rate of gender-based violence in the coun-
try, and the opportunities afforded to female presenters and 
staff in the radio broadcasting industry. CRAN, which holds its 
stake in the broadcasting industry dear, pledged its financial 
support and manpower to make the day a success.

Ongwediva Annual Trade Fair
In August 2013, CRAN attended the Ongwediva Annual Trade 
Fair for the first time. On Heroes’ Day, 26 August 2013, while at 
the Fair, CRAN handed over its first Annual Report to the Min-
ister of Information and Communication Technology(MICT). 
CRAN also took the opportunity at the Fair to engage local and 
traditional authorities on land rental for infrastructure, and edu-
cate them on the benefits of ICT and universal service access.

Windhoek Agricultural Show
During the reporting year, CRAN participated in the Windhoek 
Show for the first time, where it won a Gold Award for Best In-
door Exhibition Stand. The Department chose the theme of an 
Internet Café in order to engage the public and inform them of 
CRAN’s mandate and its activities.

The Department also took advantage of the opportunity to con-
duct an informal survey on the impact of its consumer aware-
ness campaign. The survey found that many of the attendees 
were aware of CRAN’s mandate and responsibilities, as well as 
how to lodge a complaint.

Over 1,000 ‘likes’ were added to CRAN’s Facebook page 
during the Show, and the public reacted positively to the radio, 
television and print media adverts that were running as well.

Interview on Uitani Childline Radio
Together with a team of ITU consultants, CRAN spoke to Na-
mibia’s youth through an interview that aired on Uitani Childline 
Radio. The interview dealt with general safety online and how 
to protect oneself from predators and bullies on the Internet. 
The interview formed part of ongoing discussions regarding the 
Cybercrime Bill under review. The next consumer campaign, 
titled the ‘Consumer is King’ will be launched in the new finan-
cial year.

Consumer Protection Workshop
In December 2013, CRAN was invited to attend the first-ever 
ICT Consumer Workshop in Southern Africa. The Workshop 
was held in Livingstone, Zambia, and touched on a number of 
topics, including cyber law, online child protection, cyber secu-
rity and consumer protection law. The Workshop provided ex-
cellent networking opportunities, and the Communication and 
External Relations Department was able to benchmark itself 
against many external standards, amongst others those that 
applied to the subscriber identity module (SIM) registration, 
which is in the process of being launched in Namibia.
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COMMUNICATIONS AND EXTERNAL RELATIONS

Strategic Plan Breakfast
On 11 December 2013, CRAN held an information session with 
its stakeholders to unveil its Strategic Plan for the period 2012–
2015. World-renowned ICT specialist, Mr Rohan Samarajiva, 
and Ms Helani Galpaya from Sri Lanka’s Communications 
Regulator were invited to give a presentation at the breakfast. 
They gave presentations on the importance of consumer ad-
vocacy and protection, and the ICT sector’s responsibility in 
respect of boosting a country’s gross domestic product.

Media interventions
In order for CRAN to effectively communicate its mandate to 
consumers, we need to engage and empower media practi-
tioners. To this end, the Communications and External Rela-
tions Department organised various activities to engage the 
media. Among these were the media bowls, where CRAN had 
the opportunity to engage with print media, and the Survivor 
MasterChef Cook-off, where CRAN interacted with radio jour-
nalists. An event with the broadcasting media is scheduled for 
the next reporting period.

Botswana benchmarks with CRAN on digital 

migration
CRAN’s value to be knowledgeable, and its vision to be a dy-
namic regulator have often prompted it to benchmark itself 
against more established regulators around the continent. 
CRAN also values the opportunity to be the yardstick for other 
regulators. 

CRAN had the opportunity to connect with the Botswana Com-
munications Regulatory Authority (BOCRA), which sent a team 
to Namibia in February 2014, to conduct a benchmarking ex-
ercise relating to its migration to digital services. The visiting 
team consisted of the BOCRA Chief Executive Officer, head of 
legal, and the head of its Spectrum and Electronic Communi-
cations Division. The team spent a day with some of CRAN’s 
management to gain a deeper understanding of CRAN proce-
dures, tactics and strategic goals. The BOCRA representatives 
were also taken to the MICT to glean further information about 
the deployment of digital terrestrial migration in Namibia.

Public hearings
During the year under reveiw: the Department assisted the  
Operations department in the organisation with conducting var-
ious public hearings as stipulated in the Act. Stakeholders were 
given the opportunity to present oral or written submissions for 
CRAN’s consideration during the drafting of regulations.

One of these hearings, held in March 2013, dealt with quality 
of service, specifically the proposed Minimum Standards for 
Quality of Service Regulations. The hearing came at a time 
when the number of complaints by dissatisfied consumers in 
the industry was becoming unacceptably high. Sentiments on 
the proposed regulations that were expressed by stakeholders 
at the hearing varied from slightly negative to very positive. 

Future plans
The Namibian ICT sector depends on consumers in order to 
flourish. CRAN uses its mandate as a regulator of the ICT sec-
tor to advocate and protect the consumer that use ICT products 
and services. CRAN will, therefore, soon embark on a survey 
to gain insight into consumer and licensee behaviour, trends 
and satisfaction levels in the market.
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During the period under review, the key strategic objec-
tives of the Legal Advice Department were the adjudica-
tion of consumer complaints and drafting of the Consum-
er Protection Regulations, Universal Service and Access 
Regulations, and the Broadcasting Code. The Department 
also embarked on numerous activities aimed at monitor-
ing and enforcing compliance with licence conditions 
and the Communications Act. In addition, assistance was 
granted to the Human Resources Department with drafting 
employment contracts and reviewing policies to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of the Labour Act, 2007 
(No. 11 of 2007). Other law-related functions successfully 
fulfilled included the monitoring of CRAN’s adherence to 
the State-owned Enterprises Governance Act, 1992 (No 20 
of 1992) and other applicable legislations.

As set out in more detail below, the Legal Advice Department 
is critical to CRAN’s operations: it provides authoritative legal 
advice in order to achieve the objects of the Communications 
Act and its Regulations as well as those of other relevant leg-
islation. Therefore, CRAN’s role is both normative (drafting 
legal documents, rules and procedures) and broadly adviso-
ry (providing advice ahead of decisions, general studies and 
opinions).

Consumer protection
One of the objects of the Communications Act is to ensure con-
sumers in the ICT sector are protected. To this end, the Legal 
Advice Department commenced with the drafting of Consumer 
Protection Regulations. These aim at safeguarding consumer 
interests, and guaranteeing accessible, transparent and effi-
cient redress for consumers who are subjected to abuse or 
exploitation in the marketplace. The Regulations also need to 
be geared towards enhancing the quality of and access to in-
formation available to consumers to enable them to make bet-
ter choices about ICT products and services. 

Another function fulfilled by the Legal Advice Department 
during the year under review was dealing with the adjudication 
of consumer complaints. In terms of the regulations in this re-
gard, CRAN asked all telecommunications licensees to submit 
Annual Consumer Complaints Reports. Figure 1 indicates the 
number of complaints submitted to licensees:

Figure 1: Complaints reported to licensees

Note: The reporting period relating to consumer complaints is 
1 February to 31 January each year. It is not the same as the 
financial year’s reporting period from 1 April to 31 March each 
year.

Figure 1 shows that 97% of the complaints submitted by con-
sumers to licensees were resolved within 14 days from their 
date of receipt. The remaining 3% were resolved after 14 days.

Figure 2 illustrates the types of complaints received.

Figure 2: Type of complaints received by licensees

Figure 2 shows that most of the complaints received by the 
licensees involved incorrect billing, data disconnections, ex-
cessive or incorrect roaming and data charges, product re-
pairs, and slow broadband speeds.
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Figure 3 indicates the number of consumer complaints submit-
ted to CRAN for the past two complaint reporting periods.

Figure 3: Number of complaints submitted to CRAN

Figure 3 shows a substantial increase in the number of com-
plaints consumers have submitted directly to CRAN during the 
past two complaint reporting years. This increase is the result of 
a consumer awareness campaign implemented by CRAN. The 
campaign highlighted consumers’ rights that CRAN is obliged 
to protect under the Communications Act and its Regulations.

The existing regulations also make provision for licensees to 
establish clear and simple internal procedures for the reso-
lution of complaints submitted directly to them by actual and 
potential customers. These measures include disenabling 
data roaming on customers accounts, which allows them to 
voluntarily sign up for data roaming, ongoing staff training with 
regards to products, services, processes and procedures; and 
enhancing the efficiency and quality of the services on offer.

Compliance with the Act and its Regulations
During the period under review, the Legal Advice Department 
ensured that CRAN complied with all statutory and regulatory 
requirements, compiled and maintained the necessary reg-
isters, and published notices as required in the Government 
Gazette. The Department also monitored licensees in respect 
of adherence to their licence conditions as well as to the provi-
sions of the Act and its Regulations.

Assistance to the Operations Department was rendered by way 
of drafting Quality of Service Regulations, compiling the Na-

mibian Numbering Plan, which is a type of numbering scheme 
used in telecommunications to assign telephone numbers to 
subscriber telephones or other telephony endpoints. The Op-
erations Department was also assisted with the compilation 
and reporting on a study on infrastructure-sharing amongst 
telecommunications service licensees.  The study was critical 
in respect of preparing for the drafting and implementation of 
infrastructure-sharing regulations.

Other aspects of a legal nature included the Department’s in-
volvement in the drafting and implementating of the following:
• Regulations regarding Licence Conditions for Class Com-

prehensive Multiplex and Signal Distribution Service Li-
cences, Multiplex Service Licences, and Signal Distribu-
tion Service Licences, and

• Regulations setting out Licence Conditions for Spectrum

The latter Regulations were implemented to ensure effective 
and efficient spectrum use, in the interest of orderly spectrum 
management as required by the Act.

The Economics and Sector Research Department also re-
ceived assistance in their drafting of regulations to set out cost 
accounting procedures and reporting requirements. Other as-
pects of support rendered in respect of economics and sector 
research involved the consideration of tariffs and charges sub-
mitted by licensees for review and approval in order to comply 
with section 53 of the Act.

Use Licences.
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Universal service and access to ICTs
In April 2013, the MICT issued the General Guidelines on Uni-
versal Service and Access in Communications with a view to 
accelerate closing the digital divide gap between rural and ur-
ban areas. The Guidelines set out a national policy specific to 
universal service and access to the full range of ICT infrastruc-
ture services and content, from fixed and mobile voice tele-
phony, through radio and television broadcasting, data and the 
Internet, to the full range of broadband-enabled services.

The Guidelines follow the principles set out in the Ministry’s 
Universal Service and Access Policy for Information and Com-
munications Technologies, published in 2012. The Policy en-
sures the availability, affordability and accessibility of ICT in-
frastructure, services and content from fixed or mobile voice 
communications, through radio and television broadcasting, 
fixed or mobile Internet and data communications, to full broad-
band services in urban, peri-urban, rural and remote areas to 
reach all Namibians.

The Policy also promotes the utilisation of a broad range of 
ICT services for all individuals, households and businesses; 
in schools, libraries, clinics and other public and community 
facilities; and for people living on mines, farms and in nature 
reserves in Namibia.

In furtherance of the implementation of the Policy objectives, 
the Legal Advice Department commenced with the drafting of 
regulations prescribing the provision of universal services by 
telecommunications service licensees. The Department also 
made recommendations to the MICT on an amendment of the 
Communications Act addressing the extension of the scope 
and mandate of universal service and access and certain is-
sues relating to the establishment of the Universal Service 
Fund.

The Policy identifies the imposition of universal access and 
service obligations on licensees as well as the establishment 
of a Universal Service Fund as key interventions for Namibia. 
To this end, the Legal Advice Department drafted regulations to 
impose a universal service levy on telecommunications service 
licensees.

The implementation and finalisation of the comprehensive 
Regulations on Universal Service and Access are subject to 
the Minister effecting the commencement of Part 4 of the Act.

The Broadcasting Code
CRAN currently regulates the issuance of broadcasting ser-
vice licences, but not the provision of broadcasting content. 
Consequently, the Department is in the process of drafting a 
Broadcasting Code to ensure that the independent regulation 
of broadcasting services, access to broadcasting services, and 
broadcasting content all serve the public interest. The Code 
also aims to ensure that local content is made available, and 
that there is a commitment to fostering public debate and dis-
cussion as well as transparency and accountability.

In addition, the Code contains provisions relating to freedom 
of expression, protection of privacy, hate speech, equality, 
and discrimination, which are all essential for the provision of 
broadcasting services in a democratic society. All broadcasting 
service licensees will be required to have specified procedures 
in place to ensure that programme-makers seek guidance from 
the Code. The Code will also apply during Presidential, Nation-
al Assembly, Regional Council and Local Authority elections or 
during a referendum. The Code is still in draft format and the 
rule-making process will commence in the new financial year.

LEGAL ADVICE DEPARTMENT
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OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT

Telecommunications and broadcasting 

service licences
The Communications Act prohibits any person from provid-
ing telecommunications services without a licence. Thus, the 
Operations Department continued with ensuring that entities 
who lawfully provided a telecommunications service prior to 
the Act’s commencement complied with and were granted an 
appropriate telecommunications services licence. During the 
reporting period, CRAN transitioned the following four compa-
nies in terms of section 135 of the Act:

A Class Telecommunications Service (-Class-ECS and Elec-
tronic Communications Service) licence was issued to Tele-
passport Communications (Pty) Ltd, and Class Comprehensive 
Telecommunications Services- ECS and Class-ECNS- (Elec-
tronic Communications Services and Electronic Communica-
tions Network Service licences were issued to Converged Tele-
communications Solutions (Pty) Ltd, Dimension Data (Pty) Ltd 
and Mobile Telephone Networks Business Solutions (Namibia) 
(Pty) Ltd t/a MTN Business.

CRAN received several new applications for telecommunica-
tions service licences during the period under review. Based 
on a comprehensive evaluation of the applications received, 
CRAN awarded three Class-Comprehensive Telecommunica-
tions Service Licences(-ECS and Class-ECNS), namely to Salt 
Essential IT (Pty) Ltd, Schoemans Technologies (Pty) Ltd and 
Bidvest Information Technology Namibia (Pty) Ltd, while one 
application was declined. At the end of the reporting period, 
Namibia had 14 licensed providers, offering a wide array of 
telecommunications services throughout the country.

CRAN also issued three broadcasting service licences. Com-
mercial licences were granted to Equity Broadcasting CC t/a 
Equity FM, and Capricorn Radio. A community broadcasting 
service licence was issued to Gospel Mission Ministries Inc. 
t/a Kairos Radio. This brought Namibia’s total number of radio 
broadcasters to 25 by the end of the reporting year.

The total number of broadcasting and telecommunications ser-
vices licences and licence categories issued to date is depicted 
in Figure 12.

Figure 12: Total number of licences issued by CRAN to 
date

At the end of the reporting 
period, Namibia had 14 licensed 
providers, offering a wide array 
of telecommunications services 
throughout the country.
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Spectrum use licences
Many spectrum use applications are submitted for more than 
one geographical area, indicating a positive trend in licensees 
expanding their telecommunications and broadcasting ser-
vices into rural areas and launching new services.

Spectrum is a scarce resource and requires prudent manage-
ment, hence the Operations Department commissioned two 
studies at the begining of the reporting year. The first study 
aimed at assisting the Department in establishing a spectrum 
assignment baseline, while the other study researched aspects 
relating to spectrum fees. The Department is currently drafting 
a report on the findings as well as regulations on spectrum fees 
to ensure that spectrum bands are effieciently utlilised.
 
Namibia also begun migrating from analogue to digital ter-
restrial services. The migration should be concluded by  
17 June 2015, as required by ITU regulations. Following the 
issuance of spectrum use licences in June 2013, Multichoice 
Namibia (Pty) Ltd launched two DTT products, GoTV and 
GoTV Plus, which provide a range of channels to consumers. 
December 2013 saw the Namibian Broadcasting Corporation 
(NBC) also launching its DTT services. Based on its network 
roll-out to date, the NBC now offers DTT services to 49% of the 
Namibian population.

CRAN advised all broadcasting licensees offering analogue 
television services that no protection from interference will be 
given after the ITU-imposed migration deadline of 17 June 
2015.

FM broadcasters also extended their geographical reach 
during the period under review. Spectrum was assigned in 
39 new geographical areas, and will increase significantly in 
the next reporting year. Issuance of spectrum use licences for 
high-frequency (HF), amateur and citizen band (CB) radio and 
of Radio Operator Certificates for Aeronautical and Maritime 
Services, continue to be a substantial administrative task with-
in spectrum management.

Figure 13 illustrates the nature and volume of the various spec-
trum use licences issued by CRAN to date.

Figure 13: Nature and volume of spectrum use licences 
issued

Market expansion and development
Protecting the consumer and creating a fair competitive envi-
ronment remain close to the heart of CRAN’s operations. Thus, 
the rule-making process for the implementation of Quality of 
Service Regulations commenced with the publication of draft 
regulations for public comment on 14 October 2013. These ap-
peared in Government Gazette No. 5313, Notice No. 406.

CRAN held a public hearing held on 13 March 2014 to discuss 
the Quality of Service Regulations. CRAN will commence with 
quality of service monitoring by June 2015.

Fair competition
The Department completed the studies commissioned on the 
numbering plan for Namibia, and number portability. The find-
ings showed that number portability would require regulation 
in order to ensure that all numbers utilised for telecommunica-
tions services consist of the same amount of digits.  With re-
gards to the national numbering plan, draft regulations on pro-
viding telecommunications services, the charging of numbering 
licence fees, and procedures relating to numbering licences 
were published for public comment in Government Gazette 
No. 5414, Notice No. 46, on 27 February 2014. The success-
ful implementation of these regulations is a prerequisite for 
implementing number portability in accordance with the Act. 
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The Operations Department also drafted a discussion docu-
ment to prepare for the formulation of the infrastructure-sharing 
regulations.

Spectrum management
In Government Gazette No. 5201, Notice No. 166, of 29 May 
2013, CRAN published regulations setting out its four-layer 
Frequency Channelling Plan for DTT.

Other measures published to complete the regulatory frame-
work for implementing DTT services were as follows:

• The Regulations Setting Out Broadcasting and Telecom-
munications Service Licence Categories were amended 
to introduce categories for Multiplex Operators and Class 
Comprehensive Multiplex and Signal Distribution Opera-
tors (Government Gazette No. 5148, Notice No. 74, 13 
March 2013)

• Regulations Regarding Licence Conditions for Class 
Comprehensive Multiplex and Signal Distribution Service 
Licences, Multiplex Licences and Signal Distribution Ser-
vice Licences (Government Gazette No. 5269, Notice No. 
329, 19 August 2013), and

• Regulations Setting Out Conditions for Spectrum Use Li-
cences (Government Gazette No. 5354, Notice No. 469, 
2 December 2013). The Regulations include provision for 
allocation and utilisation of spectrum in the 700 and 800 
MHz bands – referred to as the digital dividend – for tele-
communications services.

It should be noted that Namibia remains a leader in SADC in 
terms of establishing a functional regulatory framework for the 
migration from analogue to DTT services to meet international 
deadlines.

Monitoring, compliance and enforcement
In Government Gazette No. 5357, Notice No. 475, published 
on 6 December 2013, CRAN issued Regulations Setting Out 
Minimum Technical Standards for Set-Top Box [STB] Decod-
ers. These Regulations aim at ensuring all STB decoders sold 
enable consumers to view digital television services as set out 
by CRAN.

CRAN’s notice of intention to make Regulations in respect of 
Type Approval and Technical Standards for Electronic Tele-
communications Equipment was published in Government Ga-
zette No. 5214, Notice No. 192, on 31 May 2013, in order to 
elicit public comment. As required by rule-making procedures, 
CRAN conducted a public hearing on these intended Regula-
tions on 25 September 2013. It is envisaged that the Regula-
tions will be enforced by the third quarter of 2015.

OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT
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ECONOMICS AND SECTOR 
RESEARCH DEPARTMENT

Hearings on dominant industry players
CRAN declared Mobile Telecommunications Limited (MTC) 
and Telecom Namibia Limited dominant telecommunications 
operators in terms of section 78 of the Communications Act. 
The decision was published on 29 May 2013 in Government 
Gazette No. 5201, Notice No. 167.

Termination rates
CRAN launched a study on termination rates for fixed and mo-
bile telecommunications licensees. After initial calculations, 
discussions were held with MTC and Telecom Namibia and it 
was agreed that both the fixed and mobile termination rates 
would be reduced to 20 cents as from 1 November 2013. 
The rate for short message services (SMS) was reduced to 1 
cent per message. These decision were approved by CRAN’s 
Board of Directors and published in Government Gazette No. 
5369 as Notice No. 511 dated 20 December 2013.

Between January 2009 and 2011, interconnection rates in 
Namibia decreased from N$1.06 to N$0.30 for mobile and 
fixed operators alike. In terms of section 49(4) of the Act, 
CRAN approved interconnection agreements between op-
erators. In line with section 49(11)(b), the mobile termi-
nation rate may not exceed a carrier’s forward-looking in-
cremental costs. Since forward-looking incremental costs 
decline with increasing volumes, another review of termi-
nation rates – last set in January 2011 – was necessary. 

Figure 4: Mobile termination rates, January 2009– 
July 2013

Lower termination rates will assist new entries into the market 
to become more competitive, since the rates reduce the cost 
operators pay to each other to carry calls. In the long term, this 
will benefit the consumer, who will then pay less for voice calls 
and SMS.

Mergers and acquisitions
In July 2013, the Board approved the following transfers:

Transfer of licence and transfer of control of licence: Broad-
casting Service Licences for Omulunga Radio (Pty) Ltd, Radio 
Kudu (Pty) Ltd and Fresh FM (Pty) Ltd, from David Brown and 
Gunnar Jensen to Norman Kotzé and Gerrit Koekemoer.

Tariffs and fees
As shown in Table 1, the period under review saw various rates 
and tariffs being submitted to CRAN by telecommunications 
service licensees for review and approval. These submissions 
showed a substantial increase in comparison with the previous 
financial year.
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Table 1: Tariffs approved during the review period

 Application date

Mobile Telecommunications Limited (MTC)

Approvals SmartShare packages 1 June 2013

SuperAweh package 21 June 2013

Reduction of tariffs of data bundles and new data bundle options 3 July 2013

Reduction in post-paid data monthly subscription fee 23 September 2013

Promotions Post-paid Bonus Data Special 19 September 2013

December Special NetMan Time Price Reduction 3 December 2013

Telecom Namibia Limited

Approvals TalkNet and TalkNet Plus packages 29 April 2013

Voice services 5 September 2013

Voice Call plans/packages 13 December 2013

Proposed amendment to the tariffs for line rentals 16 December 2013

Promotions Best Friend package 17 September 2013

CallMaker combo 2 October 2013

Multi-Talk, Talk International and Best packages 3 October 2013

Speedlink Home plans 22 November 2013

TN Mobile 4G LTE post-paid and prepaid packages 27 November 2013

TN Mobile Christmas Promotion for post-paid packages 29 November 2013

TN Mobile GSM packages 11 December 2013

TN Mobile voice and data campaigns 13 March 2014

MWireless (Pty) Ltd t/a Africa Online (AOL)

Approval NAWAVSAT 10 June 2013

Paratus Telecom (Pty) Ltd

Approval Wi-Max and voice services 8 November 2013

Promotion Wi-Max and voice services 8 November 2013

Salt Essential (Pty) Ltd

Approval All telecommunications tariffs 29 April 2013

In total, 12 tariff packages were submitted during the 2012/13 financial year, while the 2013/14 reporting period saw CRAN receive a 
total of 21 packages. Figure 5 shows these and other comparisons for the two reporting years.

ECONOMICS AND SECTOR 
RESEARCH DEPARTMENT
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Figure 7: Total telephony revenue, 2009–2013 (N$ million)

Figure 8: Mobile and data subscriptions, 2009–2013

Regulations
The Regulations Setting out Cost Accounting and Reporting 
Requirements were finalised and published as Notice No. 474 
on 6 December 2013 in the Government Gazette No. 5357. 
The Regulations will be reported on in the next reporting year.

The reporting period also saw the Department amending the 
Regulations Regarding the Submission of Interconnection 
Agreements and Tariffs. A call for public comment was made 
by way of notice of the amendments published on 5 December 
2013, under General Notice No. 473 in Government Gazette 
No. 5356. These Regulations will be finalised in the new re-
porting year.

Figure 5: Number of tariff submissions

Reporting and data collection
CRAN started with a process of data collection in 2012 by de-
signing a questionnaire that was sent to all telecommunica-
tions licensees to complete. 

In 2013, CRAN gave notice of its intention to publish Regula-
tions Setting Out Cost Accounting Procedures and Reporting 
Requirements, which appeared as General Notice No. 116 in 
Government Gazette No. 5180 of 19 April 2013.

Some of the results of the data collected to date are shown in 
Figures 6, 7 and 8:

Figure 6: Mobile traffic, 2009–2013
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HUMAN RESOURCE DEPARTMENT

In order for CRAN to promote consumer advocacy and 
protection, it needs to recruit employees with the appro-
priate skills in the right positions, to meet its 2012-2015 
strategic objectives. Furthermore, CRAN recognises that 
it operates in a dynamic environment that requires it to 
continuously update and upgrade the skills and profes-
sional knowledge of its employees and seeks to establish 
a culture of learning and high performance in the organi-
sation. 

Staffing and Organisational Structure
The staff complement as at 31 March 2014 was 38 employees 
and two interns. During the period, CRAN recruited five em-
ployees from the disadvantaged category, while four resigna-
tions were recorded during the period.

During the period under review, CRAN’s management pro-
posed a new organisational structure to appoint additional 
staff.  The proposed structure will be submitted to CRAN’s 
board of directors for approval and once approved, advertising 
of the new positions will commence.

Table 1:  Number of staff as at 31 March 2014

Description Statistics 

Total number of employees 0

 Racially disadvantaged males 12

 Racially disadvantaged females 15

Racially advantaged males 1

Racially advantaged females 3

Persons with disabilities 0

Training and Development
In order to build the capacity of employees, CRAN has train-
ing and development initiatives that are geared to ensure that 
the staff remains competitive and well informed within this dy-
namic, fast paced industry. CRAN’s training and development 
programme consists of two categories, namely professional 
development and staff development.

Professional Development
Professional development entails skills gained through un-
dertaking work or business-related seminars, conferences, 
workshops, or training in order to meet expected performance 
outputs.  Of the total staff complement of 40, 29 employees re-
ceived professional development training in the following ar-
eas, which relate to the core of CRAN’s business operations:

• ICT Policy Regulation and Management;
• Leadership and Management Development;
• Executive Management (Strategic and Financial);
• Policy drafting and Implementation;
• Management Development Programme;
• IFRS and Tax updates;
• ACCPAC and MS Office packages;
• Public Private Strategies and Project Structuring;
• Spectrum Management and Licensing;

• Pricing and Costing;
 y Master Class in Next Generation Networks

 y Economic Regulation of Telecommunication Services

 y Procurement Negotiation and Contract Management; 
and

 y Emotional Intelligence.

55



Table 3: Staff Development

Description Statistics 

Total number of employees who fur-
thered studies

13

Racially disadvantage males 5

Racially disadvantage females 8

Racially advantaged males 0

Racially advantage females 0

Persons with disabilities 0

Knowledge Transfer between Industry and 

Academia
CRAN would like to build capacity in the ICT field and ensure 
that the linkage in knowledge transfer between industry and 
academia is fulfilled. Two female student interns from a Na-
mibian tertiary institution were attached to CRAN’s communi-
cations department. The success of such learning linkage, will 
be enhanced by forging partnerships with tertiary institutions in 
developing the ICT sector. Hence, CRAN is expected to sign a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) on this initiative in the 
next reporting period.

Affirmative Action Requirements
When CRAN reached the 25 employee mark in January 2013, 
it became a relevant employer in terms of the Affirmative Action 
Act, 1998 (Act No. 29 of 1998), and was required to submit its 
first Affirmative Action Report in June 2014, for the period 1 
May 2013 to 30 June 2014 as per Section 21 (10 (a)) of the 
said Act.

Job Evaluation and Grading Process
In March 2014, the Human Resources Department embarked 
on a second round of the job evaluation and grading process, 
which included new positions identified on the revised organi-
sational structure. 

Additionally, international events were attended with the Com-
munications Regulators’ Association of Southern Africa (CRA-
SA) Commonwealth Telecommunications Organisation (CTO) 
and the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) as listed 
below:
• World Summit on Information Society - Geneva
• World Telecommunications Development Conference - 

Dubai
• Global Symposium for Regulators - Rwanda
• ITU Council Meeting - London
• World Radio Development Conference – Dubai
• CRASA Annual General Meeting – Lesotho and Malawi
• ITU Cost Accounting and Modelling – Tanzania
• Commonwealth ICT Minister’s Forum – London

• CTO Council Meeting – Abuja

Table 2: Professional Development

Description Statistics 

Total number of employees
who attended training

29

Racially disadvantage males 9

Racially disadvantage  
females

18

Racially advantaged males 1

Racially advantaged females 2

Persons with disabilities 0

Staff Development
The staff development programme grants financial assistance 
to employees to study towards a formal qualification. For the 
period under review, a total of thirteen employees were en-
rolled for part-time studies and seven graduated during the 
period. Of the seven employees, one obtained his Masters de-
gree in ICT policy regulation and six  obtained their certificates 
in the same discipline.

In order to retain talented employees and maintain high moti-
vation levels, CRAN will further implement its succession and 
retention strategies, which are currently under review.
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Performance Management
CRAN strives to maintain a progressive performance manage-
ment practice and excellent performance standards. There-
fore, the Human Resources Department benchmarked best 
practice approaches to drive and align performance at all lev-
els, in order to achieve human resource, excellence, as well as 
customer and stakeholder excellence. 

Furthermore, the Performance Management Policy was ap-
proved and all CRAN staff signed individual performance con-
tracts for the period under review. The electronic performance 
management system was successfully implemented.  

In March 2014, employee performance was assessed to deter-
mine performance output levels, which will result in individual 
performance bonuses being paid out in the next reporting period.  

 
 
During the period under review, employees elected two health 
and safety representatives and an internal risk officer, who facil-
itated health and safety compliance guidelines at the workplace 
in line with statutory regulations. A health and safety audit was 
conducted and the findings are currently being implemented.  

Employee Wellness
CRAN recognises that the ability to achieve its objectives is 
dependent upon the well-being of its employees and acknowl-
edges that the key elements of a healthy workplace include the 
physical environment, healtyh practices, social environment 
and personnel resources.

Therefore, CRAN conducted and participated in a number of 
wellness-related activities such as:

• Awareness session on workplace ergonomics
• Personal Financial Management DVD
• Corporate Wellness screening and testing
• Stress Management/Massages
• Mediclinic Breast Cancer Awareness Walk 
• Winter Soup Fridays and Spring Health snacks

• Team-building involving physical activities

Creating a Conducive Working Environment
In order to continuously improve the working environment, 
CRAN initiated a number which interventions dealt with coach-
ing the management team on topics ranging from professional 
success, conflict management, effective communication, eth-
ics, professionalism, leadership, corporate governance and 
diversity.

As part of creating an open platform for employees to raise 
their concerns, a suggestion box system was introduced, and 
monthly staff meetings and coffee sessions with the CEO were 
held to address these issues.

During March 2014, an employee job satisfaction survey was 
carried out to determine the level of satisfaction of employees 
in the workplace and whether CRAN is the employer of choice. 
The recommendations from the survey will be implemented af-
ter a consultative process with all internal stakeholders.  

During the next reporting period, the Human Resources De-
partment will embark upon on a cultural change programme to 
align employees’ values to those of CRAN.

HUMAN RESOURCE DEPARTMENT
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INTERNAL AUDITING DEPARTMENT

The Internal Audit Department provides independent, ob-
jective assurance and consulting services designed to add 
value and improve the organisation’s operations. Internal 
audit achieves its independence by reporting functionally 
to the Board’s Audit Committee, and administratively to 
the CEO.

The Internal Audit Department became operational on 23 July 
2013. Owing to the lean nature of CRAN’s structure, the De-
partment was given the following functions:
• Internal auditing
• Risk management
• Compliance management, and
• Business continuity.

This Department completed its Strategic Plan during the re-
porting year. The Plan sets out specific objectives, targets and 
timelines in terms of its four principal functions. Subsequent to 

the approval of the 2012–2015 Strategic Plan, the Department 
drafted and obtained approval for the Internal Audit Charter 
and the Terms of Reference of the Board’s Audit Committee.

CRAN’s first organisation-wide risk assessment was also com-
pleted during the review period. Detailed risk logs have been 
finalised and priority risks will be identified during the latter half 
of 2014.

Furthermore, the Internal Audit Department compiled its first 
annual and three-year rolling Internal Audit Plan. The Plan, 
which addresses areas identified as high risk, was subject to 
Board approval and endorsement by the Board’s Audit Com-
mittee.

Consulting activities during the year under review included de-
signing a template for internal policies and procedures, provid-
ing input on the content of CRAN’s policies and procedures, 
attending executive management meetings, and giving advise 
on best practices.

The Internal Audit Department 
provides independent, 
objective assurance and 
consulting services designed 
to add value and improve the 
organisation’s operations. 
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Revenue
Revenue comprised telecommunications fees, broadcasting 
fees and spectrum fees. Telecommunications and broadcast-
ing fees are derived from fees charged to operators for their 
service licence. 
The fees are calculated as a percentage of an operator’s turn-
over, based on a progressive formula that caps the maximum 

percentage at 1.5%. Spectrum fees are derived from radio li-
cences, and vary depending on the type of licence is required.
Revenue for the reporting year declined by 18.9% from N$60.3 
million in 2013 to N$48.9 million in 2014, due to a drop of 
33.1% in telecommunications fees.

Table 2: Comparison of comprehensive income, 2011/12–2013/214

Operating expenses decreased by 
8.8% from N$53.6 million in 2013 
to N$48.9 million in 2014.
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Figure 9 illustrates the composition of revenue. Telecommuni-
cations fees make up 60% of revenue, followed by spectrum 
(30%) and broadcasting (10%) fees.

Figure 9: Sources of revenue during the reporting period

Figure 10: Three-year comparison of sources of revenue

Operating expenses
Operating expenses decreased by 8.8% from N$53.6 million 
in 2013 to N$48.9 million in 2014. The decrease is mainly at-
tributed to a decline of N$1.5 million in the provision for bad 
debts, as well as decreased consulting and professional fees 
amounting to N$3.2 million.

Figure 11: Three-year comparison of operating expenses

Surplus
The surplus for the financial year under review declined by 
62.8% from N$11.0 million in 2013 to N$4.1 million in 2014. 
This decline is ascribed to a drop in telecommunications fees.

FINANCE DEPARTMENT
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Corporate Governance Statement
 

CRAN is committed to the principles of integrity, safety, professionalism, transparency, responsibility and accountability and 
the directors recognise the need for management to conduct the business of the authority accordingly and in accordance with 
generally accepted corporate practices, the Authority’s policies and the laws of Namibia.

Board of directors

The board meets regularly. The roles of the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer do not vest in the same person and the 
Chairperson is a non-executive director. The Chairperson provides and encourages proper deliberation of all matters requiring the 
board’s attention, and obtains optimum input from the other directors and ensures all decisions of the board are clearly worded 
and are likely to advance the Authority’s interests.

Non executive directors

The board has five non-executive directors. Non-executive directors are appointed for specific terms and re-appointment is not 
automatic.

Company secretary and professional advice

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company secretary, who is responsible to the board for ensuring 
that board procedures are followed. All directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice about the affairs of the 
Authority and at the Authority’s expense.

Internal control system

The Authority maintains systems of internal control over financial reporting and over safeguarding of assets against unauthorised 
acquisition, use or disposition, all designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Authority’s management and board of 
directors regarding the preparation of reliable published financial statements and the safeguarding of the Authority’s assets. The 
system includes a documented organisational structure and division of responsibility, established policies and procedures which 
is communicated throughout the Authority and used for the proper training and development of its people.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and 
the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even an effective internal control system can provide only reasonable 
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and the safeguarding of assets. Furthermore, the effectiveness of an 
internal control system can change with circumstances.

Director Director

Windhoek, Namibia 
5 February 2015
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act, Act 28 of 2004 and Communications Act, Act 8 of 2009 (Communications 
Act) to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Authority as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the period then ended, in conformity with  International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are 
engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based 
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
Authority and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet 
these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Authority and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Authority’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the Authority is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Authority endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Authority’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2015 and, in the light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Authority has or has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Authority’s annual financial statements. 
The annual financial statements have been examined by the Authority’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 7.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 6 to 25, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the board of directors on 5 February 2015 and were signed on its behalf by:

Director Director

Windhoek, Namibia 
5 February 2015
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To the members of the Communication Regulatory Authority of Namibia Report on the financial statements

To the members of the Communication Regulatory Authority of Namibia Report on the financial statements. We have audited the accom-
panying financial statements of the Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia, which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2014 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory informationand the directors’ report, as set out on pages 9 to 28. 

Director’s responsibility for the financial statements

The Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as directors determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Communications Regulatory 
Authority of Namibia as at 31 March 2014, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

  
Supplementary information

The supplementary information set out on pages 30 to 31 does not form part of the annual financial statements and is presented as 
additional information. We have not audited this information and accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

 

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Registered Accountants and  
Auditors Chartered Accountants (Namibia)
 
Per: R. Nangula Uaandja  
Partner 
 
Windhoek 
 
5 February 2015

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 344 Independence Avenue, Windhoek, P O Box 1571, Windhoek, Namibia Practice Number 
9406, T: +264 (61) 284 1000, F: +264 (61) 284 1001, www.pwc.com/na

Country Senior Partner: R Nangula Uaandja

Partners: Carl P van der Merwe, Louis van der Riet, Ansie EJ Rossouw, Seretta N Lombaard, Stéfan Hugo, Chantell N Husselmann,  
Gerrit Esterhuyse, Talita B Horn, Samuel Ndahangwapo

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Directors’ Report
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of Communications Regulatory 
Authority of Namibia for the year ended 31 March 2014.

1. Incorporation

The Authority is a body corporate established in terms of section 4 of the Communications Act, and came into effect on 18 May 
2011.

2. Nature of business

The Authority was established to regulate, supervise and promote the provision of telecommunications services and networks, 
broadcasting, postal services and the use and allocation of radio spectrum in Namibia.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Authority’s business from the prior year.

3. Review of financial results and activities

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year .

4. Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation
Mr. Lazarus N. Jacobs Chairperson Non-executive Independent
Ms. Hilma Hitula Vice chairperson Non-executive Independent
Dr. Tulimevava K. Mufeti Director Non-executive Independent
Mr. Edwin D. Beukes Director Non-executive Independent
Mr. Tylvas N. Shilongo Director Non-executive Independent

5. Directors’ interests in contracts

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into which directors or officers of the Authority had an interest and which 
significantly affected the business of the Authority.

6. Events after the reporting period

Ms. Hilma Hitula has resigned from her role as the Vice-chairperson of the board of directors. Two members of executive 
management, Mr. Stanley Shanapinda and Ms Anna Matebele resigned from their positions of Chief Executive Officer and 
Company Secretary respectively.

Ms. Hilma Hitula was subsequently appointed as the Acting Chief Executive Officer and Mrs. Emilia Nghikembua is Acting in 
the place of Company Secretary.

The directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

7. Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed in office as auditors for the Authority for 2014.

8. Secretary

The Acting Head - Legal Advice, Ms Emilia Nghikembua, assumed the duties of company secretary. 
 
Postal address     Private Bag 13309  
       Windhoek  
       Namibia 
 
Business address     Communications House  
       56 Robert Mugabe Avenue     
       Windhoek, Namibia

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
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Directors’ Report
9. Income Tax status

The Authority is exempt from income taxes in terms of the provisions of section 16(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act, No. 24 of 1981. A 
written confirmation to this effect was received from the Ministry of Finance on 9 September 2012.

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014
 
 

Note(s)
2014
N$

2013
N$

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 10,962,956 13,341,595
Intangible assets 4 1,324,846 137,765

12,287,802 13,479,360

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables 5 10,552,921 5,039,958
Cash and cash equivalents 6 98,728,741 96,843,447

109,281,662 101,883,405
Total Assets 121,569,464 115,362,765

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Retained income 76,384,486 72,275,330

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred capital 7 39,435,281 37,035,281

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 8 3,222,152 5,524,777
Provisions 9 2,475,361 495,535
Bank overdraft 6 52,184 31,842

5,749,697 6,052,154
Total Liabilities 45,184,978 43,087,435
Total Equity and Liabilities 121,569,464 115,362,765
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
 

                      2014 2013

         Note(s)  N$   N$

Revenue 10 48,903,340 60,317,857
Operating expenses (48,872,150) (53,598,009)
Operating profit 11 31,190 6,719,848
Investment revenue 12 4,250,450 4,320,323
Finance costs 13 (172,484) -
Profit for the year 4,109,156 11,040,171
Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,109,156 11,040,171
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Statement of Changes in Equity
 

          

                 Retained income       Total equity

               N$                      N$

Balance at 01 April 2012 61,235,159  61,235,159
Profit for the year 11,040,171  11,040,171

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,040,171  11,040,171

Balance at 01 April 2013 72,275,330  72,275,330
Profit for the year 4,109,156  4,109,156

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,109,156  4,109,156

Balance at 31 March 2014 76,384,486  76,384,486

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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Statement of Cash Flows

Note(s)
2014
N$

2013
N$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 44,131,636 57,978,663
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (46,273,386) (48,724,084)
Cash used in operations 16 (2,141,750) 9,254,579
Interest income 4,250,450 4,320,323
Finance costs (172,484) -

Net cash from operating activities 1,936,216 13,574,902

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (1,029,612) (13,446,334)
Purchase of other intangible assets 4 (1,441,652) (122,749)

Net cash from investing activities (2,471,264) (13,569,083)

Total cash movement for the year 1,864,952 5,819
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 96,811,605 96,805,786

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6 98,676,557 96,811,605

11



Accounting Policies
1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set 
out below. They are presented in Namibia Dollars.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application 
of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the annual financial statements . Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables

The Authority assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Authority makes judgements as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Impairment testing

The Authority reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of 
expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible 
assets is inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors 
including significant changes in the manner of use of the  assets  or  the  strategy  for  the Authority’s  overall business, significant 
underperformance relative to expectations based on historical or projected future operating results, together with economic factors 
such as significant negative  industry  or economic  trends.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure of 
these estimates of provisions are included in note 9 - Provisions.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

 y it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the  Authority; and 

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment , the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item                                                                                                          Average useful life
Buildings                                                                                                   25 years 
Furniture and fixtures                                                                               10 years 
Motor vehicles                                                                                          4 years 
Office equipment                                                                                      3 years 
IT equipment                                                                                            3 years

 y the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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Accounting Policies
1.2 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Spectrum tools                                                           3 years 
Spectrum monitoring system                                                       3 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the 
item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. Intangible 

assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these 
intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item                                                                                                          Useful life
Computer software                                                                                   3 years

1.4 Financial instruments 

Classification

The Authority classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial 
recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial  instruments  are  recognised  initially  when  the  Authority  becomes  a  party  to  the  contractual  provisions  of  the 
instruments.

The Authority classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial  instruments  are  measured  initially  at  fair  value,  except  for  equity  investments  for  which  a  fair  value  is  not 
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
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Accounting Policies

1.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

 
Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Authority assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the Authority, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at 
the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss 
within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in  profit or loss when 
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 120 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance 
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses 
in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially 
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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Accounting Policies

1.5 Taxation  

Income Tax
No provision for tax is required as the Authority is exempt from taxation terms of section 16(1)(e)of the Income Tax Act, No. 24 of 
1981.

1.6 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability. This 
liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.7 Impairment of assets

The Authority assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, the Authority estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of 
those assets are estimated.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.8 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the 
service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.
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Accounting Policies
1.8 Employee benefits (continued)  

Defined contribution plans
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans 
where the company’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit 
plan.

1.9 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the Authority has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement 
shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a 
provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 18.

1.10 Revenue

Revenue includes amounts charged to the telecommunications and broadcasting operators as turnover fees.These fees are 
based on a predetermined percentage of the turnover of the operators as certified by them and subsequently by their auditors 
on an annual basis.

Revenue also includes fees collected from the renewal of annual licence fees, administration fees relating to service licences 
and spectrum use licence fees.

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the 
transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the  company;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for 
services provided in the normal course of business.

1.11 Translation of foreign currencies 

Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Namibia Dollars, by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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Accounting Policies 

1.12 Asset Transfer/Capital Reserve

The Namibian Communications Commission (NCC) the predecessor of CRAN, ceased to exist on 18th May 2011 and was 
replaced by CRAN as the new regulator. The assets and liabilities of the predecessor regulator, The NCC, were to be 
transferred to the new regulator, CRAN, after a final audit is concluded. To get started CRAN, needed a cash injection to 
commence its activities and on that basis, an amount of N$37 million was transferred from the NCC to CRAN during the year 
ended 31 March 2012.

1.13 Contribution to Universal Service Fund

On the 18 May 2011, the Communications Act, No 8 of 2009 came into effect. The Minister however, has not commenced Part 
4 of Chapter V, which deals with Universal Service, as at 31 March 2014. The Universal Service Fund can therefore not be 
established in law, and no contributions can be made to it. The Minister may, as provided in section 136(2), commence this on 
such date as he determines.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Authority has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Authority has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the Authority’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2014 or later periods:

IFRIC 21 Levies

The interpretation provides guidance on accounting for levies payable to government. It specifies that the obligating event 
giving rise to a liability to pay a levy is the activity that triggers the payment of the levy, as identified by the legislation. 
A constructive obligation for levies that will be triggered by operating in future is not raised by virtue of the entity being 
economically compelled to operate in future or for being a going concern. Furthermore, if the obligating event occurs over a 
period of time, then the liability is recognised progressively. An asset is recognised if an entity has prepaid a levy before the 
obligating event. This accounting also applies to interim reporting.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2014.

The Authority expects to adopt the interpretation for the first time in the 2015 annual financial statements .

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact on the Authority’s annual financial statements .

IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement

This standard aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single 
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRS’s. The requirements, which are largely 
aligned between IFRS’s and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be 
applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRS’s or US GAAP.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

The Authority has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements .  

The impact of the standard is not material.

 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (2009)

This IFRS is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 addresses classification and measurement of financial assets 
and replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only two classification 
categories: amortised cost and fair value.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2015.

The Authority expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements .

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Authority’s’s annual financial statements .

Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (2011)

The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, that delays the effective date to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The original effective date was for annual periods beginning on or after from 1 January 
2013. This amendment is a result of the board extending its timeline for completing the remaining phases of its project to 
replace IAS 39 (for example, impairment and hedge accounting) beyond June 2011, as well as the delay in the insurance 
project. The amendment confirms the importance of allowing entities to apply the requirements of all the phases of the project to 
replace IAS 39 at the same time. The requirement to restate comparatives and the disclosures required on transition have also 
been modified.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2015.

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

The Authority  expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements .

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Authority’s annual financial statements .

IASB issues narrow-scope amendments to IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’

These amendments address the disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of impaired assets if that amount is 
based on fair value less cost of disposal.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2014.

The Authority expects to adopt the amendments for the first time in the 2015 annual financial statements . 

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Authority’s annual financial statements . 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (2010)

The IASB has updated IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ to include guidance on fiancial liabilities and for derecognition of financial 
instruments. The accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising finanancial instruments has been 
relocatd from IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurament’, without change, except for financial liabilities that are 
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2015.

The Authority expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements .

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Authority’s annual financial statements .

3. Property, plant and equipment
2014 2013

Cost   Accumulated         Carrying    Cost Accumulated  Carrying  
 depreciation            value    depreciation          value

Buildings  55,070  -  55,070  -  -  
Furniture and fixtures 1,947,053 (316,949) 1,630,104 1,840,748 (131,193)       1,709,555

Motor vehicles 511,290 (105,878) 405,412 171,721 (14,310) 157,411

Office equipment 290,524 (183,951) 106,573 252,679 (94,050) 158,629

IT equipment 1,051,700 (471,363) 580,337 605,768 (169,501) 436,267

Spectrum tools 44,891 (12,938) 31,953 - - -

Spectrum monitoring system 10,879,733 (2,726,226) 8,153,507 10,879,733 - 10,879,733

Total 14,780,261 (3,817,305) 10,962,956 13,750,649 (409,054) 13,341,595

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014

Opening Additions Depreciation Total
balance

Buildings - 55,070 - 55,070
Furniture and fixtures 1,709,555 106,304 (185,755) 1,630,104
Motor vehicles 157,411 339,569 (91,568) 405,412
Office equipment 158,629 37,846 (89,902) 106,573
IT equipment 436,267 445,932 (301,862) 580,337
Spectrum tools - 44,891 (12,938) 31,953
Spectrum monitoring system 10,879,733 - (2,726,226) 8,153,507

13,341,595 1,029,612 (3,408,251) 10,962,956
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2013

Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Total
balance

Furniture and fixtures - 1,840,748 - (131,193) 1,709,555
Motor vehicles - 171,721 - (14,310) 157,411
Office equipment 118,048 124,244 (5,459) (78,204) 158,629
IT equipment 161,472 429,888 (8,299) (146,794) 436,267
Spectrum monitoring system - 10,879,733 - - 10,879,733

279,520 13,446,334 (13,758) (370,501) 13,341,595

4. Intangible assets

2014 2013

Cost Accumulated 
amortisation Carrying value Cost Accumulated   Carrying value 

amortisation
Computer software 1,679,420 (354,574) 1,324,846 237,768 (100,003) 137,765

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

      Opening balance              Additions        Amortisation        Total
Computer software                                                              137,765 1,441,652 (254,571) 1,324,846

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2013

       Opening balance  Additions Amortisation Total
Computer software                                                              100,560   122,749        (85,544)        137,765

5. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 36,611,673 29,752,133
Prepayments 291,488 73,255
Deposits 73,255 98,308
Provision for doubful debts (26,576,152) (25,038,577)
Other receivables 152,657 154,839

10,552,921 5,039,958

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to 
external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

Trade receivables

Counterparties with external credit rating (Fitch)
Telecom Namibia (BB+) 1,929,760 1,838,400

Counterparties without external credit rating
Trade and other receivables 8,623,161 3,201,558

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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5.     Trade and other receivables (continued)

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 121 days past due are not considered to be impaired except for those where 
management is aware of factors that render the debt doubtful at an earlier date. Trade and other receivables older than 121 
days that were recovered subsequent to financial year end, but prior to the signing of the annual financial statemnts have not been 
impaired. At 31 March 2014,N$ 8,672,584 (2013: N$ 4,713,556) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due for 31-60 days 1,950 2,387
Past due for 61-90 days 2,481,767 4,711,169
Past due for 91-120 days 6,079,571 -
Past due for 121+ days 109,296 -

8,672,584 4,713,556

Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 31 March 2014, trade and other receivables of N$ 26,576,152 (2013: N$ 25,038,577) were impaired and provided for.

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Past due for 0-30 days 795,011 -
Past due for 61-90 days 77,459 18,717,000
Past due for 91-120 days 1,115,027 -
Past due for 121 days+ 24,588,655 6,321,577

26,576,152 25,038,577

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 14,336 18,964
Current account 753,376 22,710,897
Call account 97,961,029 74,113,586
Bank overdraft (52,184) (31,842)

98,676,557 96,811,605

Current assets 98,728,741 96,843,447
Current liabilities (52,184) (31,842)

98,676,557 96,811,605

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand
The credit quality of cash at bank, excluding cash on hand can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings:

Credit rating
Bank Windhoek (AA) - Global Credit Rating Co. 98,714,405 96,792,642

7.     Deferred capital

The Namibian Communications Commission (NCC) the predecessor of CRAN, ceased to exist on 18th May 2011 and was 
replaced by CRAN as the new regulator. The assets and liabilities of the predecessor regulator, The NCC, were to be 
transferred to the new regulator, CRAN, after a final audit is concluded. To get started CRAN, needed a cash injection to 
commence its activities and on that basis, an amount of N$37 million was transferred from the NCC to CRAN during 2011. This was 
an advance and the correct amount will be determined and accounted for at a later date of the completion of the audit.
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7. Deferred capital (continued)

During the current financial year, I-burst Namibia , a telecommunications service provider, was billed for outstanding spectrum 
licence fees for the years 2008 - 2013. The balance has been recognized as deferred capital pending the transfer of assets and 
liabilities from CRAN’s predecessor, NCC.

8. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 2,143,091 3,534,013
Accrued rental 86,197 83,267
Accrued audit fees 188,836 160,000
Other accrued expenses 710,408 655,460
Other payables 93,620 1,092,037

3,222,152 5,524,777

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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9. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2014
      Opening balance      Additions     Utilised during Total
          the year
Provision - Leave pay             495,535        910,016 (495,535) 910,016 
Provision - Performance bonus        -       1,565,345             -             1,565,345
               495,535       2,475,361 (495,535)            2,475,361

Reconciliation of provisions - 2013

      Opening balance       Additions Utilised during Total 
               the year 

Provision - Leave pay              230,556         495,535     (230,556) 495,535
Provision - Performance bonus                                            330,841                        -        (330,841)                    - 
                                                                                              561,397             495,535        (561,397)          495,535

10. Revenue

Telecommunications 29,122,264 43,538,935
Broadcasting 4,980,038 3,917,921
Spectrum 14,801,038 12,861,001

48,903,340 60,317,857

11.   Operating profit

Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges
Premises
• Contractual amounts 969,896 865,727

Property, plant and equipment - (13,758)
Profit on exchange differences 98,686 78,138
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 3,662,822 456,045
Employee costs 18,170,301 12,255,230

Expenses by nature
Consulting and professional fees 1,154,667 4,371,637
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 3,662,822 456,045
Employee costs 18,170,301 12,255,230
Legal expenses 1,097,798 1,726,696
Media and communications 4,856,124 4,895,170
Projects 8,853,677 273,409
Travel and accomodation 3,187,284 3,184,032
Bad debts 1,537,575 21,857,579
Other expenses 6,351,902 4,578,211

48,872,150 53,598,009

12.   Investment revenue

Interest revenue
Bank 4,250,450 4,320,323

23



Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

13.   Finance costs

Late payment of PAYE and withholding tax
172,484 -

14.   Auditors’ remuneration

Fees 481,478 90,000

15.   Operating lease commitment

The operating lease relates to the rental of office space situated on Erf. 6517, Peter Muller Street, Windhoek, for a period of 36 
months. The Authority does not have the right to purchase the office building at the end of the stipulated lease period.

Minimum lease payments
Up to 1 year 1,063,663 959,641
2- 5 years 97,502 1,144,242

1,161,165 2,103,883

16.   Cash used in operations

Profit before taxation 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation

4,109,156

3,662,822

11,040,171

456,045
Loss on sale of assets - 13,758
Interest received - investment (4,250,450) (4,320,323)
Finance costs 172,484 -
Movements in provisions
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables

1,979,826

(5,512,963)

495,535

(2,412,449)
Trade and other payables (2,302,625) 3,981,842

(2,141,750) 9,254,579

17.   Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Not yet contracted for and authorised by directors 3,977,717 23,950,000
This committed expenditure relates to capital expenditure and will be financed by existing cash resources.

18. Contingencies

The Authority is at dispute with Telecom Namibia. The dispute arose from the implementation of regulations regarding administrative 
and licence fees for services in 2012. The amount in question is N$ 18,7 million and has been provided for as a doubful debt. The 
Authority’s lawyers and management consider the likelihood of the action against it being successful as unlikely. The case should 
be resolved within the next two years.

There is no reimbursement from any third parties for potential obligations of the Authority.

A claim of unfair dismissal was instituted against the Authority at the Labour Commissioner Office by a former employee. 
According to the Authority’s lawyers, the potential financial effect of the claim would approximately be N$ 250,000.The Authority’s 
lawyers and management consider the likelihood of the action against it being successful as unlikely. The case should be 
resolved within the next two years.

There is no reimbursement from any third parties for potential obligations of the Authority.

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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19. Related parties

`
Relationships

Line Ministry with significant influence  Ministry of Information and Communications Technology (MICT)

Entities reporting to the MICT Telecom Namibia

 Mobile Telecommunications Company  
 Namibia Broadcasting Corporation

Members of key management S Shanapinda (Chief Executive Officer) 
  J Traut (Chief Operations Officer) 
  J Tjituka (Head: Finance) 
  A Matebele (Head: Legal Advice) 
  L Henckert-Louw (Head: Human Resources) 
  R Le Grange (Head: Electronic Communications)    
  H Vosloo (Head: Economics and Sector Research) 
  M Rittman (Head: Internal Audit) 
  M Ikosa (Acting Head: Corporate Communications and External Relations)

Related party balances

Significant amounts included in Trade receivable regarding related parties
Mobile Telecommunications Company 4,639,710 4,814,000
Telecom Namibia 23,104,219 18,727,000

Related party transactions

Significant transactions with related parties included in revenue
Mobile Telecommunications Company 32,116,500 30,143,675
Namibia Broadcasting Corporation 1,891,628 583,504
Telecom Namibia 4,377,219 20,555,400

Compensation to key management
Short-term employee benefits 9,019,266 8,788,582

20.   Directors’ emoluments

Non-executive

2014

Mr. Lazarus N. Jacobs
Directors’ fees       Total 

76,660  76,660
Ms. Hilma Hitula
Dr. Tulimevava K. Mufeti

- -
130,908 130,908

Mr. Edwin D. Beukes
Mr. Tylvas N. Shilongo

105,829 105,829
- -

313,397 313,397

2013

Directors’ fees       Total
Mr. Lazarus N. Jacobs 80,299 80,299
Ms. Hilma Hitula - -
Dr. Tulimevava K. Mufeti 113,958 113,958
Mr. Edwin D. Beukes 92,943 92,943
Mr. Tylvas N. Shilongo - -

287,200 287,200
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21.   Risk management

Capital risk management 

The Authority’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide benefits for stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The capital structure of the Authority consists of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 6, and equity as disclosed in the 
statement of financial position .

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial risk management

The Authority’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate risk and cash flow 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Authority’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the finance department under 
policies approved by the board of directors. The board of directors provides written principles for overall risk management, as well 
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, , and investment of excess 
liquidity.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
businesses, Authority’s finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines. 
 
The Authority’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments based on the approved capital 
expenditure budget and availability of funds.Cash flow forecasts are prepared annually and reviewed at the end of every quarter.

Interest rate risk

The Authority is exposed to various risks associated with the effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market rates of interest 
on its cash resources and investments. The cash resources are managed to ensure that surplus funds are invested in a manner to 
achieve maximum returns while minimising risks. The Authority places its funds in both fluctuating interest earning call deposits 
which are adjusted on a short term basis based on changes in the prevailing market related interest rates.

Further, these call deposits are due on demand. The call account deposits amounting to N$ 97, 96 million (2013: N$ 74,10 million) 
are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, however considering the short term maturity of these deposits, these risks are minimised.

At 31 March 2014, if interest rates on Namibia Dollar-denominated investments had been 0.1% higher/lower with all other variables 
held constant, profit for the year would have been N$ - (2013: N$ 74,114-) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
income.

Cash flow interest rate risk 

Financial instrument        Current interest  Due in less   
                                                 rate than           a year 

Call account                 4.65 %          97,961,029

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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21. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The Authority 
only deposits cash with Bank Windhoek.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis and make adequate provision for doubtful debts.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:
`

Financial instrument 2014 2013
Call account 97,961,029 74,113,586

Trade receivables 11,272,282 4,966,703

Foreign exchange risk

The Authority does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

The company reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The company expects its 
foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.

22. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
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Detailed Income Statement

Note(s)

Revenue
Telecommunications 29,122,264 43,538,935
Broadcasting 4,980,038 3,917,921
Spectrum 14,801,038 12,861,001

10 48,903,340 60,317,857

Other income
Interest received 12 4,250,450 4,320,323

Expenses (Refer to page 31) (48,872,150) (53,598,009)
Operating profit 11 4,281,640 11,040,171
Finance costs 13 (172,484) -

Profit for the year 4,109,156 11,040,171

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited

Communications Regulatory Authority of Namibia
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2014 2013
N$ N$Note(s)

Operating expenses
Auditors remuneration 14 (481,478) (90,000)
Bad debts (1,537,575) (21,857,579)
Bank charges (48,324) (32,964)
Consulting and professional fees (1,154,667) (4,371,637)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (3,662,822) (456,045)
Employee costs (18,170,301) (12,255,230)
Entertainment (198,632) (68,538)
General operating expenses (876,509) (1,095,100)
Media and communications (4,856,124) (4,895,170)
ICT communications (767,428) (456,090)
Projects (8,853,677) (273,409)
Travel and accomodation (3,187,284) (3,184,032)
Employees wellness (307,159) -
Membership and licence fees (439,618) (486,224)
Building expenses (724,959) (463,152)
Machine hire (475,123) (89,989)
Lease rentals on operating lease (969,896) (865,727)
Legal expenses (1,097,798) (1,726,696)
Resources and research material (159,954) (159,541)
Motor vehicle expenses (92,113) (53,947)
Profit and loss on exchange differences (98,686) (78,138)
Profit and loss on sale of assets and liabilities - (13,758)
Training (712,023) (625,043)

(48,872,150) (53,598,009)

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited
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